RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-12-2018

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP1720-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

ROBERT JAMES POPE, JR.,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL BY THE STATE OF WISCONSIN FROM A FINAL ORDER GRANTING A NEW TRIAL, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. CONEN, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the trial court err when it ordered a new trial because of trial counsel's failure to preserve Robert Pope's right to a direct appeal and because, after the passage of two decades between his conviction and reinstatement of his direct appeal, the transcript of Pope's 1996 doublehomicide trial could no longer be produced?

The trial court ordered a new trial because the trial transcript could no longer be produced. It rejected the State's argument that *State v. Perry*, 136 Wis. 2d 92, 401 N.W.2d 748 (1987), required Pope to make a threshold showing that he had one or more colorable claims for appellate relief.

This court should reverse because the trial court's decision is directly contrary to *Perry*.

2. Is Pope guilty of laches for not more diligently pursuing his right to a direct appeal after trial counsel failed to properly preserve it?

The trial court rejected the State's laches argument.

This Court should reverse because Pope let an unreasonably long period of time pass before he properly pursued his right to a direct appeal in 2014; the State did not acquiesce in the delay or cause the loss of the transcript; and any retrial now due solely to the lack of a trial transcript without any allegation of reversible error would be extremely prejudicial to the State and to the victims' families, who were blameless.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not request oral argument, but would not oppose it if this Court believes the complexities of this case warrant oral argument. Publication may be of benefit as to both issues raised by the State.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 31, 1996, a Milwaukee County jury found Robert Pope guilty of two counts of first-degree intentional homicide while armed, as a party to the crime. (R. 18:1-2.) Pope and four others – Derek Kramer, Israel Gross, Dax Reed, and Jennifer Radler (Pope's girlfriend at the time) – all plotted to murder Joshua Viehland for supposedly threatening another woman (Chapman) they all knew. The five carried out their plan on September 27, 1995, when they lured Viehland and his innocent companion, Anthony Gustafson, to a house on North Astor St. in Milwaukee. When the two young men arrived, they were ambushed and shot multiple times by Pope, Gross and Kramer with handguns and a shotgun. Both died at the scene. Jennifer Radler encouraged the shootings, drove the getaway car and helped Pope dispose of the shotgun. Dax Reed set up the fatal ambush with a phone call luring the unsuspecting victims to the Astor St. address. (R. 3, A-App. 109–15.)¹

Gross and Pope were the only ones to go to trial. A jury took 25 minutes to find Gross guilty. (A-App. 149–53.) Gross and Kramer (who pled no contest to both counts, A-App.147– 48), were each sentenced to life without parole (A-App. 156– 58; 161). Radler pled guilty to both counts and was

¹ Included in the appendix are copies of newspaper articles from the *Milwaukee Journal Sentinel* regarding Pope's and his cohorts' cases written between October 5, 1995 and July 3, 1996. They were obtained from the archives of "newsbank.com." (A-App. 140– 163.)

sentenced to life with parole eligibility in 25 years. (A-App. 154–55.) Reed pled guilty to one count of murder and was sentenced to life with parole eligibility set at 13.5 years. (A-App. 145–46; 161.) Unlike his cohorts, Pope was still at large when the criminal complaint charging him with the homicides was filed in late January of 1996. (A-App. 156–58.) He was finally arrested January 29, 1996, four months after the murders. (R. 1:1.)

The state's theory, as reflected in the police statements of his cohorts, was that Pope fired the first shot into Viehland's chest, his gun jammed, and the barrage from the other two shooters (Kramer and Gross) followed. (R. 3:3–7, A-App. 111-15.) Pope was sentenced to life without parole July 2, 1996. (R. 26; 80:39; A-App. 162–163.)²

Pope and his attorney signed a Wis. JI-Criminal SM-33 form at the close of sentencing advising Pope of his right to file a postconviction motion or an appeal, and on which Pope acknowledged that he had 20 days to file a formal notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (R. 25; 80:40.) Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.30(2)(b). That notice of intent would have triggered the procedures for obtaining the trial of transcripts and for the appointment counsel. § 809.30(2)(c)–(h). Pope checked the box on the form stating that he "intends to seek postconviction relief. The required notice will be timely filed by counsel." (R. 25.) Trial counsel assured the court that he would file the notice on Pope's behalf. (R. 80:40.) The notice had to be filed by July 22, 1996.

² A *Milwaukee Journal/Sentinel* article printed July 3, 1996, the day after sentencing stated the following: "Robert Pope, who was recruited for the assault because of his ties with a violent street gang, fired just one shot before his semi-automatic pistol jammed, but his bullet was the first fired as he led the way for two other gunmen." (A-App. 162.)

Nothing was done within those 20 days. Nothing was done for more than fourteen months.

On September 16, 1997, fourteen-and-one-half months after sentencing, Pope filed in this Court a pro se motion to extend the time to file his notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (A-App. 116–19.) He offered no excuse for the delay. On September 25, 1997, this Court denied the motion because Pope failed to show good cause for not filing the motion of intent to pursue postconviction relief within 20 days of sentencing, or at any point in the intervening fourteen months. (R. 27, A-App. 120-21.)³ In so holding, this Court assumed that trial counsel "failed to commence postconviction proceedings, despite [Pope's] instructions that he do so." (R. 27:1, A-App. 120.)

On October 15, 1997, Pope filed a Wis. Stat. § 974.06 postconviction motion in circuit court seeking to reinstate his appeal because Attorney Michael Backes was ineffective for not filing a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (R. 28.) The circuit court denied the motion October 20, 1997 (R. 29), and Pope filed a notice of appeal November 5, 1997. (R. 33.) In an order issued December 8, 1997, this Court remanded to the trial court to determine whether Pope was entitled to waiver of transcript preparation fees. (R. 30.) On December 15, 1997, the trial court held on remand that Pope was not entitled to free transcripts because he "has not set forth an arguably

³ This Court may extend the time to file a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief only on a showing of "good cause." *State v. Harris,* 149 Wis. 2d 943, 946, 440 N.W.2d 364 (1989). *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.82(2) (authorizing this Court to extend the deadline "for doing any act" either "upon its own motion or upon good cause shown by motion").

meritorious claim for relief." (R. 31:1.) On December 23, 1997, this Court issued an order notifying Pope that he had not timely filed a Statement on Transcript and directing him to do so within five days. (R. 32.) Pope filed a Statement on Transcript January 2, 1998. In it, Pope stated that the July 2, 1996, sentencing transcript "is the only transcript[] necessary to prosecute this appeal." (R. 34, A-App. 122.) Pope filed another Statement on Transcript January 20, 1998, stating: "All transcripts necessary are already on file." (A-App. 123.) Accordingly, the circuit court clerk transmitted along with the rest of the trial record the transcripts of both the preliminary and sentencing hearings. (R. 35:2; 78; 80.)

The appeal proceeded. Pope argued on appeal that the circuit court erred in denying his motion to reinstate his appeal. Pope notified this Court that he would voluntarily dismiss his appeal if it would reinstate his direct appeal rights. (R. 40:2.) On February 3, 1999, this Court issued an order denying an extension of time to file a direct appeal. (R. 40, A-App. 124–26.) Noting that it had already denied Pope this relief in September of 1997 for his failure to show good cause, it denied relief this time for the same reason:

Now, sixteen months later, Pope again seeks an extension of that deadline. He again claims that trial counsel failed to follow his instructions. In now explaining his initial fifteen-month delay in seeking relief, Pope claims he was misinformed by a "jailhouse lawyer" as to the timetable for appeals. The court concludes that this explanation is simply insufficient and does not constitute good cause, especially when now coupled with an additional sixteen-month delay in offering this explanation. Further, Pope has failed to indicate in even the most cursory manner what issues he believes should be or could be raised in RULE 809.30, proceedings. Because Pope has not shown good cause for the extension he requests, the motion will be denied.

(R. 40:2, A-App. 125.) This Court gave Pope 10 days to decide whether he intended to voluntarily dismiss his appeal. It advised Pope that if he did not voluntarily dismiss the appeal by February 15, 1999, it would dispose of the appeal on its merits. (R. 40:3, A-App. 126.) Pope did not dismiss his appeal.

In an opinion and order issued March 5, 1999, this Court affirmed the trial court's order denying Pope's § 974.06 motion. (R. 36, A-App. 127–30.) It held that Pope "waived his right to appeal" by failing "to provide any reason for his fifteen-month delay before seeking § 974.06 relief." (R. 36:2, A-App. 128.) Pope never provided any explanation for failing to file the notice of intent after having been "properly advised of his appeal rights," which raised a presumption that he waived his right to appeal. Pope did not rebut the presumption with proof of "exceptional circumstances or good cause." Pope's claimed reliance on his attorney to file the notice of intent does not "explain why he waited for over a year before taking some action." (R. 36:3–4, A-App. 129–30.)

Pope filed a pro se petition for review March 8, 1999. On March 10, 1999, the Wisconsin Supreme Court dismissed the petition as untimely filed. (R. 37, A-App. 131.) The petition was untimely because, the Court held, it was nothing more than Pope's belated challenge to the court of appeals' September 25, 1997 order denying Pope's initial motion for an extension of time to file a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. "The petition should have been filed within 30 days of September 25, 1997. Reconsideration requests do not serve to extend that time indefinitely." (*Id.*) Pope filed another petition for review. The Supreme Court again denied review June 7, 1999. (R. 42:2.) Nothing else happened for four years.

On June 20, 2003, Pope filed another Wis. Stat. § 974.06 motion in this Court again seeking an extension of time to file his notice of intent to pursue direct postconviction relief. (R. 41.) In this motion, Pope admitted that, "[t]hirteen months elapsed before Pope got concerned about his appeal and decided to write a letter of inquiry to the SPD office." (R. 41:2.) This Court summarily denied the motion on July 11, 2003, holding: "Now, Pope has returned to the court seeking the identical relief that was denied to him and reviewed in the prior litigation. This matter has been settled and will not be relitigated." (R. 42:2.) That is where this case stood for the next eleven years.

On July 21, 2014, 18 years after his sentence, Pope filed a *Knight* petition for a writ of habeas corpus⁴ seeking to reinstate his direct appeal rights on the ground that his trial attorney was ineffective for not filing a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (R. 43.) On March 9, 2015, this Court ordered the State to respond. (R. 45.) The State filed its response May 21, 2015. (R. 44.). On September 23, 2015, Pope's trial attorney Michael Backes filed an affidavit in support of Pope's motion. (R. 47.) Backes stated that he could not recall the details of his representation of Pope and was unable to locate his case file. (R. 47:1.) Backes insisted that it has always been his practice to respond to every letter written by his client, or by anyone else regarding a client. Backes added that it was "inconceivable" that he would not have responded to a letter from Pope. (R. 47:2.) Backes located one letter written by him to Pope on

⁴ *State v. Knight*, 168 Wis. 2d 509, 484 N.W.2d 540 (1992) (setting forth the procedure for challenging the effectiveness of appellate counsel).

December 28, 2006, in response to a letter from Pope, discussing a visit they had at Green Bay Correctional Institution during which Backes advised Pope he had "no specific recollection" of an issue Pope raised, and advising Pope the "case was so old that the file was shredded" recently. (R. 47:1, 3.) Backes stated in that 2006 letter to Pope that he could not recall whether or not he filed the notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief, and it is "possible" he did not but, "I noted to you that the filing of the notice is standard and is something we most certainly would have normally done the very same day of sentencing." (R. 47:3.) Backes also explained that had Pope raised the issue closer to sentencing, "I would have had a much better memory of the entire matter and, again, would have cooperated fully with insuring that your appellate rights were preserved." (R. 47:4.)

On November 13, 2015, this Court remanded to the circuit court for a fact-finding hearing to explore with Backes why a notice of intent was not filed. Counsel was appointed for Pope. (R. 48.) The fact-finding hearing, at which Attorney Backes and Pope both testified, was held April 1, 2016. (R. 79.) Backes could not recall much of anything and he said he shredded his case file years earlier. Backes insisted, however, that his usual practice was to immediately file a notice of intent with the clerk either in person or by mail and he would have done so here, given that this was a murder conviction. (R. 79:7–14.) Pope testified that he told Backes to file for postconviction relief and tried to contact him after he failed to file it to no avail. (R. 79:36–44.)

The trial court (Honorable J.D. Watts, presiding) issued Findings of Facts May 16 and June 28, 2016. (R. 56, 57, A-App. 132–34.) Judge Watts found as facts that Pope wrote two letters from jail asking Backes to file a notice of intent shortly after sentencing, Pope's testimony about his efforts to contact Backes "was credible," there was no evidence that Backes received those letters, Pope "has been acting pro-se attempting to reinstate his appellate rights since 1996," and there was no evidence that Backes filed a notice of intent. (R. 56, 57, A-App. 132–34.) Based on those findings, the State and counsel for Pope stipulated on August 16, 2016, that Pope's direct appeal rights should be reinstated. (R. 60; A-App. 135–137.) Accordingly, on September 29, 2016 (misdated 2015), this Court ordered that Pope's direct appeal rights be reinstated. (R. 62; 63; A-App. 138–39.)

On March 7, 2017, nearly 21 years after his conviction, Pope finally filed his motion for direct postconviction relief pursuant to Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.30. (R. 64.) Before doing so, Pope's appointed counsel discovered that: (a) no trial transcripts had ever been ordered and prepared; and (b) the trial transcripts could not be prepared at this time because the reporters' notes were destroyed. (R. $64:4-5.)^5$ Pope moved for a new trial due to the lack of transcripts. (R. 64:5-9.) The State, in reliance on *State v. Perry*, 136 Wis. 2d 92 (1987), opposed the motion. It argued that Pope failed to show as required by *Perry* that he had any colorable claims of reversible error that the missing transcripts might have supported. (R. 68:1-2.) The State also argued that his new trial motion was barred by the equitable doctrine of laches. (R. 68:2.)

The trial court, the Honorable Jeffrey A. Conen now presiding, rejected the State's arguments and ordered a new trial at a hearing held July 19, 2017 (R. 81:20–24, A-App. 103–07.) The court issued a written order to that effect

⁵ Even though court records in Class A felonies must be kept 75 years, SCR 72.01(15), court reporters need only retain their trial notes for ten years. SCR 72.01(47).

July 21, 2017. (R. 74, A-App. 101.) The State appeals. (R. 75.)

INTRODUCTION

Pope did not file his Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.30 motion for direct postconviction relief until nearly 21 years after his conviction in 1996. It was only then the parties learned that the court reporters destroyed their trial notes in 2006, as allowed by law. The trial court awarded Pope a new trial simply because the transcript can no longer be produced.

1. The trial court erred as a matter of law in granting automatic reversal based only on the absence of a trial transcript. It did not require Pope to make the threshold showing that he has one or more colorable claims of reversible error the transcript might have sustained. *Perry*, 136 Wis. 2d at 101, 103, 108. The record shows that Pope would have no colorable claims even if there were a transcript.

This court should reverse and reinstate the conviction. In the alternative, this Court should reverse and remand to give Pope the opportunity to show he has one or more colorable claims of reversible error.

2. Pope is guilty of laches. He waited far too long to let anyone know he intended to pursue direct postconviction relief. He never did provide a legitimate excuse for seeking three retroactive extensions of time to file a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief between 1997 and 2003. He did not properly challenge until 2014 the effectiveness of trial counsel for not filing a notice of intent.

The State did not acquiesce in Pope's delays. It reasonably believed postconviction review was finished in 1997, in 2003, and for 11 years thereafter. Because nothing was pending between 2003 and 2014, the court reporters lawfully destroyed their trial notes in 2006. The State will be greatly prejudiced if Pope is awarded a new trial without even alleging error. The State is blameless as is the trial court. Equally blameless are the court reporters and the victims' families. The equities weigh heavily in favor of the State. This court should reverse outright.

STANDARDS FOR REVIEW

1. The trial court's decision whether to grant a new trial due to the lack of a transcript is discretionary. Its decision will be upheld on appeal "if due consideration is given to the facts then apparent, including the nature of the claimed error and the colorable need for the missing portion—and to the underlying right under our constitution to an appeal." *Perry*, 136 Wis. 2d at 109. A trial court erroneously exercises its discretion when it commits an error of law or does not base its decision on the facts in the record. *E.g.*, *State v. Raye*, 2005 WI 68, ¶ 16, 281 Wis. 2d 339, 697 N.W.2d 407.

2. The State bears the burden of proving lackes. State ex rel. Coleman v. McCaughtry, 2006 WI 49, ¶ 25 n.10, 290 Wis. 2d 352, 714 N.W.2d 900. The issues whether the delay was unreasonable, whether the State acquiesced in the delay, and whether the State suffered actual prejudice from it are questions of law based on the facts. Coleman, 290 Wis. 2d 352, ¶ 17. If lackes is proven, the decision whether to deny relief to Pope for that reason is left to the discretion of this Court. Id.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in awarding Pope a new trial without the requisite threshold showing of a colorable claim for relief on appeal.

A. The showing required for a new trial due to the inability to produce trial transcripts for appeal.

Wisconsin law is clear that when all or part of the trial transcripts cannot be reproduced, the defendant is entitled to a new trial, but only after making a threshold showing that he has one or more colorable claims for relief that the transcript might sustain. *Perry*, 136 Wis. 2d at 101, 103, 108; *State v. DeLeon*, 127 Wis. 2d 74, 80, 377 N.W.2d 635 (Ct. App. 1985). "[C]ommon sense demands that the appellant claim some reviewable error occurred during the missing portion of the trial. Obviously, the trial court need not conduct an inquiry if the appellant has no intention of alleging error in the missing portion of the proceedings." *DeLeon*, 127 Wis. 2d at 80.

"The claim should be more than frivolous and the lacunae of the record should be of such substance as to lend credence to the claim that error was arguably prejudicial had the missing segment been produced." *Perry*, 136 Wis. 2d at 108. *See State v. Raflik*, 2001 WI 129, ¶ 40, 248 Wis. 2d 593, 638 N.W.2d 690 ("[T]he appellant has the burden to demonstrate that there is a 'colorable need' for the missing portion of the record. ... The appellant is not required to show prejudice, but the error cannot be so trivial that it is clearly harmless."). The defendant must show a "colorable need" even when a significant portion of the transcript is missing because a per se reversal rule "would lend itself to manipulation." *Perry*, 136 Wis. 2d at 105 n. 5.

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