## **RECEIVED**

03-12-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS

### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP1720-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

ROBERT JAMES POPE, JR.,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL BY THE STATE FROM A FINAL ORDER GRANTING A NEW TRIAL, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. CONEN, PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

ANDREA TAYLOR CORNWALL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1001431

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 cornwalla@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State contends that the postconviction court erroneously interpreted *State v. Perry* to require automatic reversal whenever the trial transcript cannot be produced, and that it erred in not requiring Mr. Pope to first demonstrate specific colorable claims for relief that would require the transcripts from his 1996 jury trial in order to pursue his direct appeal. (State's Br. at 15). In addition, despite its failure to raise a laches defense to Mr. Pope's now-dismissed habeas petition, and its stipulation and joint request for reinstatement of Mr. Pope's direct appeal rights, the State asserts that it has not waived a laches defense, and that this equitable doctrine applies to Mr. Pope's constitutional right to a direct appeal. (State's Br. at 24-33).

This Court should affirm the postconviction court. This Court reinstated Mr. Pope's direct appeal rights and he is constitutionally entitled to meaningful appellate review of his convictions. Here, the postconviction court granted a new trial not, as the State asserts, because it determined as a matter of law that *Perry* requires automatic reversal whenever a trial transcript cannot be produced, but instead because it

concluded that the unavailability of any transcripts from his 1996 jury trial made it "impossible" for Mr. Pope to make a claim of error with any specificity, and thus frustrated his right to a meaningful appeal of his convictions. (81:22-23, A-App. 106-107). Thus, the postconviction court implicitly found that the unavailability of any of the trial transcripts in this particular case established a colorable need under *Perry*, as such an utter deficiency in the record deprived Mr. Pope of any meaningful review of his convictions. The postconviction court therefore did not err in rejecting the State's assertion that Mr. Pope must allege specific errors from his trial held more than two decades ago in order to establish that the transcripts are necessary in order to proceed with his direct appeal.

In addition, by its failure to raise laches as a defense in Mr. Pope's habeas action and by its ultimate stipulation to reinstatement of direct appeal deadlines, the State waived any laches claim. Moreover, on its merits, the State's contention that the equitable doctrine of laches bars Mr. Pope from pursuing his direct appeal fails.

### ARGUMENT

- I. The postconviction court properly ordered a new trial because the unavailability of any transcripts from Mr. Pope's trial denies him his constitutional right to meaningful appellate review.
  - A. Legal principles and standard of review.

The right to an appeal is absolute, and constitutionally guaranteed in Wisconsin. Wisconsin Constitution, Article I, §21(1). The right to meaningful judicial review is also protected by the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. <u>See State v. Raflik</u>, 2001 WI 129, ¶14, 248 Wis. 2d 593, 636 N.W.2d 690. As our Supreme Court has recognized, "a thread runs through our entire jurisprudence that there not only be a right to appeal, but that the appeal be a meaningful one." *Perry*, 136 Wis. 2d at 99; *Raflik*, 2001 WI 129, ¶30.

Recognizing the importance of a transcript of the trial court proceedings to an appeal, our Supreme Court has held:

Stemming from the right to a meaningful appeal is a criminal defendant's right to a full transcript of the proceedings. *Id.* Providing a defendant with a full transcript guarantees that the defendant has the opportunity to analyze the proceedings of the trial court and to challenge any errors. *Id.* 

Raflik, 2001 WI 129, ¶31 (citing Perry, 136 Wis. 2d at 99).

The transcripts of the trial court proceedings (or a "functionally equivalent substitute") must portray in a way meaningful to the particular appeal and, in a criminal case, beyond a reasonable doubt, "exactly what happened in the course of trial." *Perry*, 136 Wis. 2d at 99. In *Perry*, the Supreme Court recognized that a statement of errors alleged to have been committed during trial and a showing that such

errors were prejudicial is "[b]asic to a criminal appeal," such that any failure of the appellate process that prevents an appellant from demonstrating possible error during the trial court proceeding constitutes a constitutional deprivation of the right to appeal. *Id*.

In addition, the United States Supreme Court has emphasized that, where a state appeal of a criminal conviction is a matter of right, the due process and equal protection provisions of the Fourteenth Amendment require that sufficient procedures must assure adequate appellate review, including production of transcripts. <u>See Griffin v. Illinois</u>, 351 U.S. 12 (1956) (Fourteenth Amendment requires that indigent defendants be afforded the same appellate review as defendants who can pay for transcripts); Eskridge v. Washington State Bd. of Prison Terms and Paroles, 357 U.S. 214 (1958) (state court's denial of indigent defendant's motion for free transcript was a denial of due process under the Fourteenth Amendment); Draper v. Washington, 372 U.S. 387 (1963) (trial judge's conclusion that an indigent's appeal would be frivolous was an inadequate substitute for full appellate review available to nonindigents, where the effect of that finding prevented appellate review based on a complete trial record, violating the Fourteenth Amendment).

When determining whether the trial transcript is adequate for meaningful appellate review, the court has a duty to ensure that the defendant's right to a fair and meaningful review of his conviction is not frustrated by transcript errors or omissions. *Perry*, 136 Wis. 2d at 108-109. A circuit court's discretionary decision whether to grant a new trial due to the lack of a transcript will be upheld on appeal if "due consideration is given to the facts then apparent, including the nature of the claimed error and the colorable need for the missing portion – and to the underlying

right under our constitution to an appeal." *Perry*, 136 Wis. 2d at 109.

B. Where meaningful appellate review is frustrated by the unavailability of any trial transcripts, and reconstruction of the record is impossible, a colorable need for the transcripts is established, necessitating a new trial.

The State claims that the postconviction court erred as a matter of law in granting a new trial because, it asserts, the court read *Perry* as requiring automatic reversal "whenever" the trial transcript is missing.<sup>4</sup> (State's br. at 13-15). The record contradicts the State's claim, as the court made no such sweeping ruling. Rather, the court's ruling reflects that, after briefing and discussion with the parties both on and off the record, it concluded that the unavailability of all of the transcripts from this 1996 jury trial made it "impossible" for Mr. Pope to make a claim of error with any specificity, and thus he was denied his right to a meaningful appeal of his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> While the State is correct that the preliminary hearing and sentencing transcripts are in the record (the preliminary hearing transcript filed on 2/14/1996 (1:3; 78), and the sentencing transcript filed on 7/22/1996 (1:12; 80)), this fact provides no cover for the State with regard to the right to a meaningful appeal of Mr. Pope's convictions, which occurred following his four-day jury trial, for which no transcripts exist. Moreover, the State's claim that this Court could review any claims of error occurring at the preliminary hearing is contradicted by State v. Webb, which holds that a defendant claiming error at his preliminary hearing may obtain relief only prior to trial. Webb, 160 Wis. 2d 622, 628, 467 N.W.2d 108 (1991). And, while Mr. Pope could potentially utilize the sentencing transcript to challenge the trial court's imposition of a life sentence without parole, development of some potential sentencing claims (such as inaccurate information at sentencing or harsh and excessive sentence) could be thwarted by the lack of a transcript of any of the evidence presented at trial.

convictions. (81:22-23, A-App. 106-107). Thus, as the court implicitly found, the lack of any transcripts from his trial and the inability to reconstruct the record due to the passage of time, in itself established, in this instance, a "colorable need" for the record, as such an utter deficiency completely deprived Mr. Pope of his constitutional right to a meaningful review of his convictions:

THE COURT: There are some issues that were raised with regard to ineffective assistance of counsel, but again, that's all supposition and speculation until we have the transcript, but there's no way, obviously, that anyone could come up with that. And we are looking to do justice across the board and make sure that the laws are followed. So not having the transcript and not being able to really proceed today in a meaningful way on a motion for a new trial, the Court has no other option but to order a new trial in this case.

MR. HAYES [the prosecutor]: So is the Court finding that the defense has made out the facially valid claim of error as required under the case law?

THE COURT: To the best of their ability. I mean, it's impossible to make that claim with specificity if you don't have a transcript. So there are things that have been brought up. This is not something that we just said, Oh, 20-plus years later we decided that, you know, we want to appeal because we know there's no transcript. That's not the way this came down.

MR. HAYES: Right.

(81:22-23, A-App. 106-107).

In *Perry*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court emphasized "the absolute and constitutional necessity for providing a criminal defendant a transcript that will make possible a meaningful appeal." *Perry*, 136 Wis. 2d at 105. The Court

also noted the language of *Hardy v. United States*, which extolled the need for a complete trial transcript for pursuit of an appeal:

[T]he most basic and fundamental tool of [an appellate advocate's] profession is the complete trial transcript, through which his trained fingers may leaf and his trained eyes may roam in search of an error, a lead to an error, or even a basis upon which to urge a change in an established and hitherto accepted principle of law.

*Perry*, 136 Wis. 2d at 106 (quoting *Hardy*, 375 U.S. 227, 288 (1964)).

Our Supreme Court also recognized the crucial importance of the transcript to the role of the appellate court:

...An appellate court cannot function if it has no way to determine whether error has been committed. In most instances, a transcript is required for appellant's counsel to locate error and for an appellate court to verify or disprove it. Frequently, plain error – error usually not pinpointed in the course of trial – can only be discovered and proved by a transcript. Moveover, whether error is prejudicial or harmless is usually determinable only in the context of the entire record.

*Perry*, 136 Wis. 2d at 105.

It is clear that the postconviction court did not, as the State suggests, misread *Perry* as requiring automatic reversal "whenever" the trial transcript is unavailable. Rather, the court recognized that, without a single transcript from a jury trial held over two decades previously, meaningful appellate review in this particular case was "impossible." (81:23; A-App. 107) As other courts have recognized in similar circumstances:

...unlike the typical case in which only a portion of the trial transcript is unavailable, neither appellant or this court has had access to a verbatim transcript of any of the trial proceedings. As a general matter, the problems associated with a less-than-complete verbatim transcript – especially the inability to notice plain error – will be greater when a substantial portion of the transcript is altogether unavailable. Although the loss of an entire trial transcript will not necessitate a new trial in every instance, it does magnify the need for a complete and accurate substitute statement of the evidence and increases the likelihood that meaningful appellate review will be impossible.

*Cole v. U.S.*, 478 A.2d 277, 286 (D.C. Circ. 1984) (footnote omitted).

In *Cole*, the court reporter's notes of defendant's twoday trial were lost. Cole challenged the reconstructed statement of the trial proceedings (consisting of a two-and-ahalf page summary), as insufficient to permit meaningful appellate review. The D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals agreed, noting that the reconstructed statement, which contained no reference to opening statements, cross-examination of two trial witnesses, or jury instructions, was "at best a fragmentary account of appellant's trial." Cole, 478 A.2d at The court also recognized that these insufficiencies were "greatly exacerbated" because appellate counsel did not participate in the trial and would have a "distinct disadvantage" in uncovering trial court errors without a transcript, which would increase the likelihood that prejudice to the defendant would result. Id. at 287. It concluded that a new trial was necessary, as the reconstructed record "lacks the completeness and the reliability necessary to protect appellant's right to pursue an appeal and this court's obligation to engage in meaningful review." Id. See also, Johnson v. State, 302 Ga. 188 (Ga. 2017)(new trial ordered where trial transcripts destroyed by fire and 14-page summarized reconstruction was insufficiently detailed to allow meaningful appellate review); *State v. Hobbs*, 190 N.C.App. 183 (N.C. Ct.App. 2008)(new trial ordered where transcripts of three days of evidentiary phase of trial were unavailable and no adequate alternative to reconstruct record prevented meaningful appellate review); *People v. Jones*, 178 Cal.Rptr 44 (Cal. Ct. App. 1981)(new trial ordered where court reporter destroyed trial notes and no method of record reconstruction was available to afford meaningful appellate review); *accord People v. Serrato*, 47 Cal.Rptr. 543 (Cal. Ct. App. 1965).

In contrast, in *Freeman v. U.S.*, the D.C. Circuit concluded that despite the unavailability of any transcripts from defendant's trial 17 years previously, the reconstructed record was sufficient to permit appellate counsel an opportunity to review "substantial and crucial portions of the trial for any error," thereby permitting a meaningful appellate review. *Freeman*, 60 A.3d 434, 435 (D.C. Circ. 2013). In that case, the court emphasized the "comprehensive reconstructed record," which included the "detailed and contemporaneous notes" of the trial judge covering the testimony of all the witnesses at the motion hearings and during trial, the jury instructions, and the length of jury deliberations. *Id.* 

In Mr. Pope's case, contrary to *Freeman*, and similar to *Cole*, *Johnson*, *Hobbs* and *Jones*, given the passage of time, the participation of a different judge, prosecutor, and appellate counsel, and a trial attorney with no memory of the case (79:8-19), there is no possibility that the record could be reconstructed beyond a reasonable doubt to accurately reflect what actually happened at his jury trial. *See Perry*, 136 Wis. 2d at 99, *Raflik*, 2001 WI 129, ¶54. Nor has the State even

so much as suggested that a reliable reconstruction of the trial record could be made to the required level of proof. The postconviction court implicitly found as much.

Finally, the State asserts that Mr. Pope is not denied his right to direct appeal because "it has been reinstated with the appellate record as it is 21 years after conviction," and that he therefore "must prosecute that direct appeal with the appellate record as it exists, and with the memories of witnesses as they are, now 21 years after conviction." (State's br. at 23-24). This is not the law.

While an appellant is responsible to ensure that available necessary documents and exhibits are made part of the appellate record, State v. Smith, 55 Wis. 2d 451, 459, 198 N.W.2d 588 (1972), this general rule fails to support the State's puzzling claim that Mr. Pope must litigate his direct appeal with a record that lacks transcripts unavailable due to the passage of time. The State's proposition is contradicted by the Supreme Court's decisions in Perry and Raflik, which consider the impact of transcript deficiencies on a defendant's constitutional right to a meaningful appeal, and in no way suggest that the defendant's right to appeal must suffer if transcripts are unavailable. Perry, Id.; Raflik, Id. As the Court in Perry noted, where "a portion of the record is lost

\_

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